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The Trustees present their Annual Report together with the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report of the 
charitable company for the year 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020.  The Annual Report serves the purposes 
of both a Trustees’ Report, and a Directors’ Report under company law. 
 
On 1 August 2020 Dorothy Goodman School changed its name to Open Thinking Partnership, on the creation 
of a Multi-Academy Trust (MAT). The MAT currently manages two schools; Dorothy Goodman School and The 
Fusion Academy (the latter, a free school that opened from the beginning of the 20/21 academic year). 
 
Throughout the year the Trust operated Dorothy Goodman School, an Academy for pupils with learning 
difficulties aged 3 to 19. Admission to Dorothy Goodman School (special Academy) will normally be by way of 
an Education Health and Care plan (prior to September 2014 by way of a statement of special educational 
needs). Parents may make representations for a placement at Dorothy Goodman School. The local authority 
responsible for making Education Health and Care plans retains responsibility for deciding whether to name 
Dorothy Goodman School (special Academy) in the Education Health and Care plan, based on the individual 
needs of the child and any representations made by parents. A local authority is required to consult with Dorothy 
Goodman School (special Academy) before naming it in an Education Health and Care plan. Once Dorothy 
Goodman School (special Academy) is named in a child's Education Health and Care plan, the Academy is 
under a legal duty to admit the child. Dorothy Goodman School now has a pupil capacity of 340 and had a roll 
of 308 in the school census October 2019. 
 
The Trust also worked to set up and establish a free school, The Fusion Academy, planning for it to be staffed 
and ready for opening September 2020. The Fusion Academy was recommended for approval by Ofsted in June 
2020 and was ready to open, albeit in a temporary building, on 7 September 2020 with 24 pupils as planned. 
The pre-opening plan was successfully followed throughout the national and more local lockdowns, ensuring 
sufficient staff were in place to support all the pupils’ needs. Staff undertook a fortnight of training prior to the 
school opening to pupils on 7 September 2020. The school will ultimately provide 80 places for pupils who have 
communication and interaction difficulties. Admissions to The Fusion Academy will normally be by way of an 
Education Health and Care plan. The route to gain admission follows the same route as for Dorothy Goodman 
School in that the local authority responsible for making Education Health and Care plans retains responsibility 
for deciding whether to name The Fusion Academy in the Education Health and Care plan, based on the 
individual needs of the child and any representations made by parents. A local authority is required to consult 
with The Fusion Academy before naming it in an Education Health and Care plan. Once The Fusion Academy 
is named in a child's Education Health and Care plan, the Academy is under a legal duty to admit the child. 
 
STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT  
 
Constitution 
The MAT is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The charitable company’s Memorandum 
and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents of the MAT. The Trustees of the MAT are also 
the Directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law.  The charitable company operates as 
Open Thinking Partnership.  
 
Details of the Trustees who served during the year, and to the date these accounts are approved are included 
in the Reference and Administrative Details on page 1. 
 
Members’ Liability 
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the 
event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be 
a member.
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Trustees’ indemnities 
Trustees benefit from indemnity insurance to cover the liability of the Trustees which by virtue of any rule of law 
would otherwise attach to them in respect of any negligence, default or breach of trust or breach of duty of which 
they may be guilty in relation to the MAT. The cost of this insurance in the year was £272 (2019: £238) and 
provides cover up to £3,000,000. 
 
Method of Recruitment and Appointment or Election of Trustees  
Recruitment of Trustees is outlined in the Articles of Association. There are no persons or bodies not mentioned 
in the articles entitled to appoint Trustees. Members may appoint up to 2 Trustees. Trustees may co-opt up to 4 
Trustees. All Trustees are asked to seek suitable persons and make appropriate nominations.  
  
The Chair of Trustees and Chief Executive Officer meet and interview prospective nominees before bringing a 
nomination to Trustees.  
 
The appointment of staff Trustees to the Local Governing Committees of schools in the MAT is via a process of 
a staff ballot and the appointment of parent Trustees is made via parent ballot. Nominated members of the Board 
of Trustees are also present at meetings of the Local Governing Committees. 
 
Policies and Procedures Adopted for the Induction and Training of Trustees 
The training and induction provided for new Trustees will depend on their existing experience. Where necessary, 
induction will provide training on charity and educational, legal and financial matters. Trustee induction training, 
alongside a menu of extensive specialised training is available through the local network of schools to support 
all new Trustees. The MAT also subscribes to the Local Authority Governor Development Service which offers 
further Trustee training. 
 
All Trustees are provided with copies of policies, procedures, minutes, accounts, budgets, plans and other 
documents that they will need to undertake their role. 
 
Organisational Structure  
The Members meet at least annually to appoint new Members and to receive the annual accounts.  
 
During 2019/2020 The Board of Trustees met at least 4 times per year and at each meeting they received the 
minutes and reports of the 3 sub-committees: 
 

1. Finance and Staffing Committee - which usually meets at least 5 times per year. In addition, the Finance 
Report is shared electronically beyond the 5 meetings; 

2. Standards and Expertise Committee- which meets at least 3 times per year; and 
3. Parent, Community & Extended Services Committee - which meets at least 3 times per year. 

 
From 1 September 2020, Trustees of Open Thinking Partnership will meet at least 4 times each year and will 
consider the minutes from the two sub-committees: 
 

1. Finance and Staffing Committee - which will meet at least 5 times per year. In addition, the monthly 

Finance Report will be shared electronically beyond the 5 meetings; and 

2. Standards and Expertise Committee - which will meet at least 3 times per year. 

 

Open Thinking Partnership will also consider any previously identified issues from the Local Governing 
Committee minutes if required.   
 
The Local Governing Committee of each of the schools in the MAT meets at least 3 times per year and reports 
to the Board of Trustees.
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The day-to-day management of the MAT is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer, who has appointed a Senior 
Leadership Team, who meet weekly to discuss both strategic and day-to-day responsibilities. 
  
A scheme of delegation has been approved which provides a clear line of responsibilities at all levels. 
  
The Trustees are responsible for setting general policy, adopting an annual plan and budget, monitoring the 
MAT by the use of budgets and making major decisions about the direction of the MAT, capital expenditure and 
as appropriate the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Operating Officer. 
  
The management structure consists of four levels: The Board of Trustees, the Local Governing Committees, the 
Senior Leadership Team and the Middle Management Team. The aim of the management structure is to devolve 
responsibility and encourage involvement in decision making at all levels and maximise opportunities for 
succession planning. 
 
Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
The MAT continues to set its own pay and remuneration policies in line with the School Teachers Pay and 
Conditions statutory guidance for setting the pay and remuneration for the senior leadership roles, which include 
qualified teachers. For the administrative and business roles within the MAT’s management and leadership 
structures pay and remuneration are currently based upon local government criteria and relevant job families. 
No Trustees receive any remuneration other than reimbursement of expenses incurred. 
 
Trade union facility time  
Under the provisions of the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication requirements) Regulations 2017, Dorothy 
Goodman School has to report information included in Schedule 2 of the Regulations, as an employer with more 
than 49 full time equivalent employees.  
 
There were no employees who were relevant union officials during the period, no time was spent on facility time 
by employees, no pay bill was spent on facility time and no time was spent on paid trade union facilities. 
 
Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations 
Dorothy Goodman School is located across a number of bases. There are two main sites, one catering for 3 to 
11 year olds and one catering for 11 to 19 year olds. The school has three satellite bases which are located 
within mainstream schools. These satellite bases offer pupils’ opportunities to access a range of mainstream 
lessons and social activities based upon their individual needs while still receiving the personalised support 
available from a special school. One satellite is based on the site of Richmond Primary School and has three 
classes for pupils in Key Stages 1 and 2. Two classes for Key Stage 3 pupils are based within Redmoor Academy 
and two classes for Key Stage 3, 4 and 5 pupils are based at Hinckley Academy and John Cleveland Sixth Form 
Centre. In addition, we have a discrete base for pupils with autism, Cleveland House. This is also located on the 
site of Hinckley Academy and John Cleveland Sixth Form Centre. The pupils at this base work towards accessing 
60% - 80% of mainstream lessons - this access is commissioned from Hinckley Academy and John Cleveland 
Sixth Form Centre. There is a further education base at Cadent, a local employer, where student interns are 
based for one year, they are all aged 18 or over. During the COVID-19 pandemic this was suspended and 
students worked from home and this year the new cohort have begun their work skills placements working within 
school.  
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Dorothy Goodman is an active member of the Forest Way Teaching School Alliance. This is a formal membership 
adhering to the terms of reference and the shared moral purpose towards improved attainment for all pupils 
across the Alliance. This involves working collectively with the other schools involved to offer continuing 
professional development for our own staff and those who work in other schools within the Alliance. This includes 
providing initial Teacher Training for Schools Direct in conjunction with Derby University. Dorothy Goodman 
School and The Fusion Academy are also members of the Leicestershire Special School Group and Local 
Inclusion group. These are both organisations with informal terms of reference to cooperate in pursuit of 
providing the best education for children and young people in the areas they serve. 
 
OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES. 
 
Objects and Aims 
The principal object and activity of the MAT is to advance for the public benefit education in the United Kingdom, 
in particular but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, by establishing, maintaining, carrying on, 
managing and developing schools specially organised to make special educational provision for pupils with a 
wide range of learning disabilities.  
 
Objectives, Strategies and Activities 
The MAT aims to provide a safe, stimulating and caring educational environment, in which all children are able 
to learn and develop their social, creative and academic skills. Our school communities are forward looking and 
self-critical to ensure we develop provision to the next levels of success and excellence. An aspirational culture 
and ethos inform all aspects of the MAT’s work so that pupils develop excellent personal qualities and have a 
wide range of experiences and opportunities. 
  
Work at Dorothy Goodman School is made relevant and interesting for pupils through careful planning and a 
programme of thematic work, which links the subjects together and makes them meaningful to the pupils. All 
classes study a range of curriculum subjects relevant to their age within which we can teach communication, 
logic, inquiry, personal and social skills, as well as creative and physical development. At Cleveland House pupils 
are taught a curriculum which is in line with mainstream expectations but using an autism specific approach. At 
Cadent the pupils are taught a work skills-based curriculum. The Vocational sixth form focuses on developing 
skills which will help our young people to be independent resourceful young people who are ready for their next 
stage in education, training or employment as well as being prepared in basic life skills. 
 
We measure success by analysing the progress our pupils make across the curriculum in academic subjects as 
well as communication, logic, inquiry, physical, creative and personal and social development. We analyse how 
able they are to apply their skills in a range of different settings and how able they are to communicate with and 
work with different people. We consider destinations as a key indicator for our older students and strive to ensure 
they can sustain and succeed in further education, training or employment according to their needs. We also 
measure the breadth of experiences our children and young people have during their school years. We believe 
by broadening their horizons we equip them for their adult lives more effectively. The school council was 
instrumental in developing the scheme at Dorothy Goodman School which tracks this, known as ‘50 Things to 
do before you leave Dorothy Goodman School’ and at Cleveland House a similar approach which works hand 
in hand with Hinckley Academy. 
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The Fusion Academy merges the skills, expertise and understanding of a highly specialist provision with the 
breadth and opportunities available in a mainstream school. This union will allow our students to have the best 
possible chance at reaching their academic goals in an environment where they feel safe, understood and 
listened to, in addition to having their wider needs met. Class sizes will be small. This will allow students to get 
the focused attention they need. Student wellbeing will be of paramount importance at The Fusion Academy. 
Our school environment will be accommodating for young people with communication and interaction needs or 
autism and/or sensory needs. A multi-disciplinary team, including a range of therapy professionals, will work 
together to support all areas of student need. Young people will also be taught strategies to help manage their 
emotions (such as anxiety and anger) and will develop their independence skills.  Everyone around each young 
person will work collaboratively to ensure they have every opportunity to meet their full potential. 
 
Throughout our schools, bases and across the different curricula, students are encouraged to have an 
understanding of themselves and the world about them as well as how they can interrelate with their 
communities, enabling them to become self-confident young people and to develop skills in a setting which is 
both structured and caring. 
  
Our schools provide access to a broad, balanced and relevant curriculum, with a wide range of learning 
experiences available. The MAT recognises the need to offer specialised educational work, depending on the 
identified needs of our pupils. As students move up through the secondary phase of their school, they undertake 
a range of accredited work and choose from a range of vocational pathways. The MAT also provides some full-
time internships with local employers for some of our older students. 
 
Public Benefit 
The Trustees of the MAT have complied with their duty to have due regard to the guidance on Public Benefit 
published by the Charity Commission in exercising their powers and duties. The activities undertaken to further 
the MAT’s purpose for the Public Benefit include encouraging public use of the MAT’s buildings which includes 
use of the halls, classrooms and hydrotherapy pool. Public use by others with disabilities is particularly 
encouraged. 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT 
 
Achievements and Performance 
 
Progress at Dorothy Goodman School:  
We are a special school for pupils with learning difficulties, other than those who attend Cleveland House who 
have Autistic spectrum condition/disorder. We maintain high aspirations and ensure our pupils are challenged 
with their work. However, we recognise that in all our bases, other than Cleveland House, our pupils will not be 
reaching the expected standards across the curriculum for their chronological age. Therefore, the emphasis on 
individualised learning is at present best represented by the percentage of pupils achieving challenging targets. 
These are set by benchmarking their achievements with other pupils who start at the same level at a similar age. 
The proportions who achieve these targets in core subjects is high and reflects the continuing focus on pupils 
learning relevant skills to their starting points and taking qualifications relevant to their needs and interests. 
 
We measure our pupils’ success by the progress they make from their very different starting points. For some 
pupils successfully learning to communicate a choice between two things is great progress, while for others 
gaining GCSE qualifications is an equivalent success. All these achievements are as important as each other. 
This year our pupils have made outstanding progress once again. 
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The breadth of curriculum on offer at Dorothy Goodman School has continued to support all pupils to make 
excellent progress and whilst some have been developing their communication skills, learning how to say no, 
request more or make choices, other pupils have achieved GCSEs or vocational qualifications. When organising 
access to the curriculum and analysing their progress we group our pupils into 4 bands, also taking into account 
the year group a pupil is currently part of chronologically. The four bands cover all our age groups:  
 

● Life choices are pupils currently working at pre subject specific standards; 
● Like skills are pupils who are currently achieving equivalent standards to those expected at Pre-Key 

Stage 1; 
● Vocational pupils are currently achieving equivalent standards to those expected at Key Stage 1 and 

above; and 
● Academic pupils are working just below expected standards at Key Stage 2 and above.  

 
By using a trajectory approach, we set expectations at the highest levels of challenge for our pupils in each of 
these bands.    
 
Due to the impact of COVID-19 the data for this report was taken from progress recorded up to April 2020.  
 
95.5% of pupils across the school were making positive progress towards achieving and exceeding their targets 
within priority areas this year. This indicated that outstanding progress had been maintained while pupils were 
fully attending school until the end of March.  
 
Across the seven areas assessed 89% were making expected or excellent progress that is exceeding 
expectations in relation to previous learning. A further 7% of pupils were demonstrating emerging skills across 
the curriculum which indicated an increasing pace within trajectory. 
 
Those pupils eligible for pupil premium achieved extremely well up until the end of March 2020 with 92.2% (5.7% 
higher than those who were not eligible for pupil premium) on track to achieve expected or better progress and 
85.4% of this group (1% higher than those who were not eligible for pupil premium) achieving at the highest 
progress rates.  
 
The school has 10 children who are Looked After - 3 made good progress and 7 had exceeded levels of progress. 
Communication and Personal social development (PSD) were key strengths for the achievements of these 
pupils.  
 
EYFS  
Over the last year until March 2020, when there was a National Lockdown, all our pupils were making good 
progress in relation to their starting points and were demonstrating emerging skills across the learning areas 
when considering national expectations. As a school, all our pupils at this age have either cognition and learning 
or communication and interaction as their primary need. Some continued to attend school during lockdown and 
for those who did not, we sent work packs to help parents work at home with the children and ideas via Google. 
We also contacted all parents or carers by phone at least once per week to have a discussion about their child's 
welfare and to ensure we were offering as much help as possible for the pupils to access their provision as 
identified in their EHC Plans met. 
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Key Stage 1: (Ages 5 - 7) 
By the end of March 2020 our school-based assessment system TOPS (Tracking Our Pupils’ Skills) showed that 
all pupils had accelerated progress. 98% of pupils in this Key Stage made good or exceeded levels of progress 
with excellent outcomes for pupils in the Choices and Skills bands. Developments in Communication and PSD 
were key strengths for the key stage. Of the few pupils who were not on track, one had joined the school later 
than the start of the academic year and the others were receiving a change in approach and intervention.  
 
Key Stage 2:  
Up until the end of March 2020, 86% of pupils made good or exceeded progress expectations. 90% of pupils 
were making expected progress or above. One of the pupils not making expected levels of progress within this 
key stage has a regressive syndrome and another pupil has had significant medical needs this year. The senior 
team are working with newly qualified teachers to ensure all progress is captured so that the challenge remains 
high throughout the Key Stage. Achievement in Communication, Logic and PSD were key strengths for this key 
stage.  
 
Key Stage 3:   
While progress made by pupils in this Key Stage is lower, we are still pleased with the outcomes as 78% of 
pupils making expected levels of progress or above. A further 17.5% of the cohort (7 pupils) were making 
emerging levels of progress by the end of March 2020. Once again achievement in Communication and PSD 
were key strengths for the key stage. In this Key Stage we also help pupils with the change from a primary model 
to a more secondary model for learning. 
 
Key Stage 4:  
75% of pupils made good or exceeded progress within the cohort and 78% made expected levels of progress or 
above. Much of the work in this Key Stage had focussed on preparing our pupils for meeting the requirements 
to sit accredited qualifications including entry levels, functional skills and GCSEs. Achievement in PSD was a 
clear strength for the key stage and this included starting to apply social skills to a wider range of situations.  
 
Key Stage 5:  
85% of pupils made good or exceeded levels of progress with 88% of pupils making expected levels of progress 
or above. Many of the Key Stage 5 students were working towards GCSEs having taken an additional year to 
study the subjects and their progress is demonstrated by the accreditation they achieved more than TOPS 
however it is evident that achievement in PSD, Communication and Logic were well embedded across the key 
stage.  
 
Accreditation:  
This was the first time that we have used trajectories to benchmark the outcomes of pupils. The trajectories were 
set during the course of this academic year.  
 
14 pupils took accredited courses within the school this academic year. 9 of these pupils accessed qualifications 
at levels which were in line with their trajectories. A further five pupils completed accreditation at a stage prior to 
their expected trajectory. This was to assist with them learning how to sit and access examinations/tests or how 
to improve their completion of coursework. We do not enter for examinations and accreditation in a single year 
group and therefore pupils will have the opportunity to build upon their experiences this year ready for 
accreditation at more challenging levels. 
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There were initially 26 entries for Entry Level qualifications but due to the impact of COVID-19 some pupils were 
unable to complete the required work to gain qualifications. Work with those pupils leaving school was prioritised 
with others having their entries deferred to the academic year 2020/21. Four pupils achieved seven Level 1 
qualifications between them in English, Mathematics and Drama. At Entry Level nine qualifications were 
achieved in English and Mathematics. One pupil achieved Entry Level 1 English and Mathematics, three pupils 
achieved Entry Level 2 Mathematics, one pupil achieved Entry Level 2 English and one pupil achieved Entry 
Level 3 English.  
 
There are 4 interns awaiting results for BTEC qualifications which are still being queried linked to rules of 
combination due to some of the work not being completed because of COVID-19. The questioning has arisen 
as this was our first time delivering these qualifications at Level 2 and our intern programme had to be home 
working from March 2020.  
 
Accreditation - Cleveland House  
 
Year 11 - Year 14 
Nine pupils at Cleveland House took 35 qualifications in 18 different subjects. 83% of the qualifications were 
achieved at the predicted level or above. Six of the qualifications were achieved above the level that the pupil 
was predicted. Six qualifications were achieved at a level below that which was predicted, 5 of these lower 
grades were linked to one pupil who had significantly low attendance (he did however pass all of his 
qualifications).  
 
Year 9 - Year 10 
Four pupils at Cleveland House accessed 29 inclusion subjects throughout the year. These pupils still have one 
further full year of study to complete their course.  In-house assessment showed that 24% of the pupils were 
working securely within their grade boundaries and on track to achieve at least their predicted grades if not 
higher (for many pupils these successes are in options choices where they are highly motivated). 14% of pupils 
are on track for developing learning within their identified areas. 62% of pupils are below their predicted grades 
for learning. This is clearly linked to subject areas that pupils find more of a challenge (English and Maths) and 
it is important to remember that this cohort of pupils have been out of education for some time prior to attending 
Cleveland House as well as working from home during the COVID-19 arrangements. Over the next year the 
focus will be on increasing their confidence with learning.  
 
Year 7 & 8 Pupils 
There are six pupils accessing learning in Years 7 and 8. They are accessing a range of lessons (23 different 
sessions). 48% of the learning within subjects is showing a secure understanding, a further 30% are showing a 
developing understanding of learning (heading towards being secure within the subject area). There are 4 
subjects (linked to only one pupil) where attainment is below the expected levels (it is important to note that this 
pupil does have additional needs identified in the area of cognition and learning and it is where learning requires 
high levels of literacy to enable access that learning is more of a challenge).  
 
Cleveland House 
Progress within the Autism progression framework: 
At Cleveland House one of the areas used to track progress is the Autism Education Trust (AET) Progression 
Framework. Over the course of the academic year 2019-20 progress was made by all students against their 
targets. Significant positive progress was made across 85% of the targets in the autumn term and 86% in spring 
term. This shows a positive picture for the long-term targets being achieved at a high standard excluding the 
COVID-19 interruption. 
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Destinations  
There were 17 pupils from Dorothy Goodman School (excluding Cleveland House) who moved on from the 
school this year. 9 pupils have moved on to study in four different colleges. The range of courses accessed 
include building and construction, art and design, IT and media, sport, foundation learning and animal care. Five 
pupils moved to Specialist College providers within the locality. Three pupils chose not to name further 
educational provision, with aspirations for support through social care.  
 
This year our intern programme had to be suspended at the point of lockdown. Although disappointing for the 
students involved all continued on their work skills qualifications with the support of the job coach and lead 
teachers.  
 
Experiences and visits were also severely hampered this year following lockdown and our residential visits were 
unable to continue. There were some visits before lockdown including visits to museums and experiences with 
visiting art groups. We have also held special focus days and weeks: Creative week, a specialist ‘fun maths’ 
week and a Shakespeare in Schools Festival culminating in a performance at The Curve Theatre. During 
lockdown we held a virtual sports week festival. Unfortunately, our “moving on week”, to give our primary aged 
pupils experiences of the world of work, had to be stopped due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We have also worked 
closely with local schools and the local authority to ensure a wide range of provision is available in our local 
area.  
 
Outcomes and progress in identified priorities over the last year are reported below 
Dorothy Goodman School has continued to provide a safe, stimulating and caring educational environment, in 
which all children and young people are able to learn and develop their social, creative, academic and vocational 
skills. This was continued using remote learning during the lockdown period as well as enabling as many pupils 
as possible to continue to attend the school in person. 
 
The peer triads of teachers have functioned well during the year continuing through lockdown working virtually 
including meetings. Each triad has developed their own action plan with clearly defined curriculum outcomes for 
any developments and a review of the impact of their subject on pupil outcomes over time. Some triads 
capitalised on using remote learning sessions and programmes for staff to develop their skills in teaching maths 
and gain a better understanding of wellbeing through play and drama during home working sessions. 
 
There was a very strong focus on parental engagement throughout the year which took a different direction as 
the COVID-19 pandemic influenced our practices. Regular home calls and virtual meetings were used and our 
relationships with many families flourished and became even more well embedded during this time. We took 
action to involve other services where needed and ensured free school meals and/or vouchers were available 
to all those who were entitled whether attending school or not. Although our pilot run of Earwig, a new system 
with which we can share evidence of pupils’ progress easily with families and carers was interrupted, we still 
identified the various strengths of the system and were ready to introduce it throughout the school at the start of 
the academic year 2020/21. 
 
Cleveland House has successfully provided a high-quality education for 20 young people and in August 2020 
twenty five young people are on roll accessing this provision. All students are attending some mainstream 
lessons with a view to accessing 60-80% of the mainstream curriculum over time. Before lockdown all but two 
pupils were well on their way with this ambition. 
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The outside environment at Barwell Lane has been partly completed. The inclusive special Cruyff court was 
officially opened in January 2020 and has been an excellent resource for our young people to access. The other 
landscaping areas have been somewhat delayed due to inclement weather and flooding earlier in the school 
year and lockdown restrictions preventing the work from being continued. In June and July, the work 
recommenced and now the grass is seeded, trees are planted and there are plans for the next landscaping 
phase in place.   
 
Outdoor learning for Primary pupils has significantly increased as a result of the developments in the outdoor 
spaces. The resources and boundary arrangements have enabled us to provide more safe and challenging 
activities for all primary aged pupils. The Primary indoor environment has been refurbished with a more 
purposeful soft play area including interactive facilities and new wall coverings to illustrate our core values as a 
school as well as to provide a vibrant colourful environment for the pupils.   
 
Longer term objectives  
In conjunction with the local authority we planned to establish improved premises for our HAJC base 
students including relocating pupils to a refurbished areas within HAJC campus before demolishing the mobile 
classrooms currently in use. This has not occurred due to imminent changes in governance at the Hinckley 
Academy. Although the money has been secured HAJC is becoming part of a MAT and the buildings are part 
of the arrangements being worked on with the DFE. This has delayed our ability to undertake the work. However, 
we are still working closely with leaders within the MAT to help develop a more suitable base for our pupils on 
campus. 
 
The vocational sixth form was prepared and ready to open for the academic year 2020/21. A post 16 curriculum 
which focuses on real preparation for independence and work / supported work has begun. We are working 
towards establishing self-sustaining premises at Middlefield Lane. This will be further developed once The Fusion 
Academy has moved to their permanent site.  
 
Dorothy Goodman School has continued to focus on ensuring more pupils make progress at the highest levels 
across a wider range of subjects across the school. Extraordinary work has been done to help minimize the 
impact of the pandemic. The focus for students 14 and over will be to ensure the curriculum better prepares 
them for the workplace and/or independent living. 
  
Dorothy Goodman School has provided a safe, stimulating and caring educational environment, in which all 
children and young people have been able to learn and develop their social, creative, academic and vocational 
skills both before and during the pandemic lockdown. The attendance during national lockdown was a testament 
to the commitment from staff and willingness of parents and carers to send their children into school. 
 
Sector leader and successful partnerships 
This year we have continued to build upon current staff expertise to ensure the provision across the MAT is of 
the best quality and based on the most up to date research. By enhancing the expertise of our own staff we have 
been able to share this expertise within the community of schools in the Hinckley and Bosworth area as well as 
other special schools regionally, nationally and internationally. Our outreach programme is well used and we 
cooperate with local mainstream and special schools to enhance provision for children and young people with 
special educational needs. 
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Key Performance Indicators 
Financial reports, budget updates and projections presented to the Finance and Staffing Committee have shown 
that the MAT has continued to stay within its budget and a reasonable carry forward figure was achieved. The 
annual funding available to Dorothy Goodman School has been used to provide suitable education for 290 pupils 
over the last academic year. This has included providing learning activities at home during lockdown as well as 
keeping the school open throughout all of March, April, May, June and July (until 12th) and providing holiday 
schemes at Easter, half term and for 3 weeks in the summer break. All the young people whose parents wished 
for them to attend during term time were able to do so. We also established distance learning using Google 
classrooms, phone and video link learning as well as sending out packages of activities and work to our young 
people who have more concrete levels of understanding and sensory needs. All of this has helped as many as 
possible to remain on track for making good or better progress. This has included funding to ensure pupils have 
the necessary additional support when at risk of not having their needs met in line with the provision outlined in 
their EHC plans or when circumstances mean that pupils need more support to keep them safe. 
  
The financial reports have also included the expenditure on essential additional PPE and hygiene resources as 
well as an increase in cleaning staff to keep Dorothy Goodman School as COVID-19 safe as possible. (This has 
included hygiene equipment, consumables and staffing hours).  
 
The final invoice for the capital build at the Barwell Lane site, undertaken in previous financial years, is still 
outstanding as the ‘ongoing’ snagging list is still to be fully rectified. As yet there is no firm final account from the 
building contractor to verify the accuracy of the sums being claimed and to substantiate items of expenditure in 
certain areas. The sums outstanding are not considered material. 
  
Prior to lockdown pupil attendance was higher than that of similar schools and on track to be in line with the 
national average. Pupils who were at risk of low attendance were well supported and intervention put in place to 
reduce the impact on their educational progress. We were especially conscious of the importance of keeping in 
touch with all the pupils’ families and carers throughout lockdown and all those not attending school received at 
least one phone call per week from the class teacher or key worker and many had more. 
  
The growing population and requests for admission to Dorothy Goodman School is a testament to the success 
of the school. The outstanding quality of provision and outstanding achievement by the children and young 
people found within the Ofsted inspection in 2016 has been maintained. 
 
Going Concern 
After making appropriate enquiries, the Board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the MAT has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  Further details regarding the adoption of 
the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting Policies. 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW  
The majority of the MAT’s income is obtained from the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) and 
Leicestershire County Council (LCC), in the form of recurrent grants, the use of which is restricted to particular 
purposes. The grants received from the ESFA and LCC during the period ended 31 August 2020 and the 
associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the statement of financial activities. 
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In addition, funds are received from various activities carried out to generate funds, such as any running costs 
of the MAT not met by restricted grants. Any surplus is carried forward as an unrestricted fund in the Balance 
Sheet. 
 
Due to the arrangements during the COVID pandemic there were some cost savings because we did not need 
to buy in supply staff at the rate usual for the time of year across the school. However these savings were 
negated by the additional costs incurred for expenditure on free school meals prior to the national scheme being 
in place; additional resources to be sent home for pupils isolating; additional cleaning materials and sanitising 
stations; additional cleaning staff hours; the large costs of PPE required due to the nature of our young people 
and their requirement for close work, health interventions while at school and their lack of ability to safely keep 
a distance from staff. We were unable to access any additional income as we had reserves and therefore the 
only benefit, we gained was for one order of PPE provided via local authority arrangements.  
 
Reserves Policy 
The Trustees will review the reserve levels of the MAT annually. This review encompasses the nature of income 
and expenditure streams, the need to match income with commitments and the nature of reserves. The level of 
reserves will be kept under review by the Trustees. 
 
At 31 August 2020 the total funds comprised: 
 

  £’000 

Unrestricted  350 

Restricted: Fixed asset funds 15,061 

 Pension reserve (5,273) 

 Other 366 

   

  10,504 

   

 
Investment Policy 
The MAT monitors cash flow on a regular basis and ensures that surplus funds are deposited so as to maximise 
interest, subject to only investing in risk free and immediately accessible deposit accounts. 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties  
The principal risks facing the MAT are included in the Risk Register and Management Plan and include: 
 
● Strategic and Reputational Risks – mitigated by robust ongoing self-evaluation, forward planning and risk 

management procedures; 
● Operational Risks - mitigated by well documented controls and regular risk assessments; 
● Operational risks during the pandemic - mitigated by regular risk assessments which have led to enhanced 

cleaning, additional hygiene resources and procedures, as well as robust use of PPE; 
● Compliance Risk - mitigated by tiered accountability and regular assessment of compliance requirements; 
● Financial Risks - The principal financial risks are a reduction in pupil numbers, reduction in central 

government funding, unbudgeted increase in teaching or support staff costs, or unbudgeted major capital 
repairs. The risks presented here are mitigated by strategic planning where staffing to pupil ratio is led by 
the numbers on roll and the level of their needs; 

● Financial Risks - we also hold a contingency reserve of £100,000. However, it should be noted that this is 
less than one month’s salary bill; 

● Capital Financial Risk - mitigated by close scrutiny of the capital project costs and adherence to the terms 
of any Condition Improvement Funding;



 

   

OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL) 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee) 

 

 

TRUSTEES' REPORT (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 

 

 

Page 15 

● Pupils - mitigated by strong safeguarding arrangements and health and wellbeing monitoring, tight 
evaluation and monitoring of progress made and destinations of pupils; 

● Staffing - mitigated by a detailed induction programme and continuing professional development, including 
training teachers within school and working with local special schools on similar programmes; 

● Physical - mitigated by management of premises including regular servicing, adherence to the Workplace 
(Health, Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 and Health and Safety at Work Act 1974. Also, there are 
regular condition surveys of premises leading to ongoing maintenance and the Trustees agreement to hold 
a contingency of at least £100,000 year on year for unforeseen capital costs; and 

● Governance - mitigated by strict adherence to the due diligence process for selection of new members and 
Trustees. 
 

FUNDRAISING 
‘Friends of Dorothy Goodman School’ involves staff, members of the local community and parents supporting 
the school. They undertake fund-raising events as well as ‘come and help’ events. The Friends of Dorothy 
Goodman School have their own accounts separate from that of the school the fundraising events have 
somewhat faltered due to the pandemic. However, we have been lucky enough to be supported by many local 
charities, for example we have been supported by the local Asda providing additional resources and food for our 
holiday school opening times   
 
Dorothy Goodman School also undertakes structured bids to charities whose mission is in line with our own 
philosophy and aims and we have been successful with a few. The Chief Operating Officer ensures the receipt 
of income and expenditure is in line with the charity’s expectations. This is reported to the Finance and Staffing 
Committee and is in line with statutory accounting and reporting requirements. 
  
The complaints policy is the same for fundraising as other aspects of the school and complies with recommended 
guidance. 
  
The name of Dorothy Goodman School is protected by our processes of overseeing any charitable event which 
is being held by a third party. We seek agreement for the publicity and the Chief Operating Office checks any 
materials before they are released and reports to other senior team members. 
  
We use social media to seek donations to support our fundraising but do not make any direct approaches to 
private individuals thus ensuring vulnerable people are not subject to intrusive requests. 
 
PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS 
 
Open Thinking Partnership  
Key priorities include: 
 
● To ensure the schools within our new Multi-Academy Trust provide high quality education for all the children 

and young people on roll; 
● Opening the new building for The Fusion Academy; 
● To expand the Board of Trustees in the short term; 
● To plan the development and growth of Open Thinking Partnership (subject to the pandemic) over the next 

3 to 5 years in more detail, to include increasing the schools in the partnership initially to 5 and to put plans 
in place for 10 over the longer term; 

● To work cooperatively with The Futures Trust to enhance provision for SEND pupils in the Hinckley and 
Bosworth area at Hinckley Academy; 

● To ensure the Outreach provided by the Open Thinking Partnership supports the inclusion of children and 
young people within mainstream providers locally as well as providing specialist support within the schools 
of the Trust; and
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● To apply for Open Thinking Partnership to become a behaviour hub in order to support local schools using 
the EDR (Engage Disengage Reengage) programme of support. 

 
Dorothy Goodman School - Pupil Progress and Outcomes 
Pupils to achieve in line with their trajectory ambitions within 2 years attendance at the school and to be prepared 
for their next steps, being able to: 
 
● Advocate their own choices;  
● Know how and when to use strategies to help maintain their own engagement; and 
● Apply skills learnt; in a variety of situations, in their community/ties - independently or co-dependently. 
● We will use the development of better coaching to enhance teachers’ skills and therefore in turn the progress 

made by pupils, using a peer triad review system for joint development of skills and expertise and to evaluate 
impact. 

● Cleveland House - To ensure Cleveland House provision is of the highest quality for all of the 25 pupils. 
Ensuring high quality education provision in conjunction with Hinckley Academy, tailoring provision to the 
individual needs of pupils and their aspirations, to include autism self-awareness and how these impacts on 
their lives; 

● Outside environment at Barwell Lane - To further refine the usable outside area across the whole grounds 
to include planting and horticulture learning areas, outdoor learning areas including sensory resources and 
recreation; and 

● Primary outdoor and indoor environments - To install better canopy provision to enhance and increase 
opportunities for outdoor learning for pupils. 

 
Dorothy Goodman School - Parent Engagement  
We will aim to increase parental engagement over the initial 2 years which will promote and develop aspirations 
for their child, within the school and wider community. Independence, resilience and relationships based on the 
values of the school will be central to this work. 
 
To recommence a focus on parental and carer engagement with their child’s progress - to enable parents’ better 
access to their child's progress evidence so that we can help raise aspirations. To improve attendance at the 
well-established programme for family leadership work, supporting advocacy for our pupils by developing this in 
a blended learning style which befits the current national context. 
 
Dorothy Goodman School - Leadership 
All leaders will explicitly use the values of the school to inspire the school community in order that children and 
young people can: 
 
● make informed choices and decisions; 
● engage and self-regulate; and 
● progress in 4 or more areas of curriculum, achieving or exceeding their trajectories. 
 
In conjunction with the local authority plans, to establish improved premises for our HAJC base pupils working 
in partnership with The Futures Trust.  
 
Vocational sixth form - Further develop a post 16 curriculum which focuses on real preparation for independence 
and work / supported work and to establish a self-sustaining work base in which this can be carried out. 
 
The school will continue to focus on ensuring more pupils make progress at the highest levels across a wider 
range of subjects in the primary department, when assessed using a range of stringent criteria. The focus for 
students 14 and over will be to ensure the curriculum better prepares them for the workplace and/or independent 
living. 
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The Fusion Academy 
Within 1 year at the school pupils will achieve the agreed short term targets in Social & Communication Skills, 
Emotional Understanding & Self Awareness and Life Skills. 
 
Every student will achieve their social targets working towards outcomes within their EHC Plan. 
 
To successfully work with Children and Young People to formulate challenging but realistic aspirations. 
 
FUNDS HELD AS CUSTODIAN TRUSTEE ON BEHALF OF OTHERS  
 
The Dorothy Goodman School as a single Academy Trust has now ceased and has moved to become the Open 
Thinking Partnership.  
 
The Open Thinking Partnership (a Multi-Academy Trust) was registered from 1 August 2020 and is currently 
responsible for two schools: Dorothy Goodman School and The Fusion Academy. 
 
AUDITOR 
 
In so far as the Trustees are aware: 
 
● there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditor is unaware; and 
 
● the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 
 
Trustees’ Report, incorporating a Strategic Report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees, as the 
company Directors, and signed on the Board’s behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
…………………………………………… 
Christopher White 
Chair of Trustees 
 
Date: 14 December 2020
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SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 
 
As Trustees we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that the MAT has an effective and 
appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.  
 
As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE’s Governance Handbook and 
competency framework for governance. 
 
The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer as Accounting 
Officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial 
management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding 
agreements between the MAT and the Secretary of State for Education. The Accounting Officer is also 
responsible for reporting to the Board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control. 
 
GOVERNANCE 
 
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees’ Report and in the 
Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities.  The Board of Trustees has formally met five times during the year.  
Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Trustees was as follows: 
 
 

Trustee Meetings attended Out of a possible 

 
Christopher White – Chair of Trustees 

 
5 

 
5 

Janet Thompson - Accounting Officer and Chief 
Executive Officer 

5 5 

Simon Love - Co-Vice chair 4 5 

Caroline Henton - Co-Vice chair 4 5 

Anthony Carr 4 5 

Laura Jeffs - (Appointed 25 November 2019) 3 3 

Huw Williams - (Appointed 3 February 2020) 1 2 

Michelle O’Brien - (Resigned 1 August 2020 to 
become part of DGS Local Governing 
Committee) 

3 5 

Danielle Holder - Staff Trustee (Resigned 1 
August 2020 to become part of DGS Local 
Governing Committee) 

5 5 

Melissa Beacall - Staff Trustee (Resigned 1 
August 2020 to become part of DGS Local 
Governing Committee) 

0 0 

Sharron Richards - (Resigned 15 January 2020) 1 2 

Claire Shardlow - (Resigned 2 December 2019 to 
become a Member) 

1 2 

Ian Coe - (Resigned 7 October 2019) 1 1 
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We continue to commission an annual peer review. This year it had to be deferred due to the National pandemic 
and lockdown. Our documentation prepared for the review supported the view that outstanding provision and 
governance has been maintained. In the Autumn Term of 2019, the Board of Trustees revised the terms of 
reference of each sub-committee. A full day development event was held early in the Autumn Term 2019 to 
agree the scheme of delegation and the organisation and structure of the Open Thinking Partnership Multi-
Academy Trust. The Trustees have continued to actively support and challenge the school using virtual means 
for meetings.  
 
The Board allocates roles effectively. The Open Thinking Partnership has five Members and six Trustees and is 
seeking to increase this number in the short term. An increase in the number of Trustees has been delayed due 
to not being able to meet people during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer attend Trustee meetings and support Local Governing 
Committees at each school when required.  
 
The existing Trustees have ensured all necessary roles and responsibilities have been delegated to ensure 
effective monitoring and evaluation of the Trust and schools’ work.  
 
Each school has a Local Governing Committee. The committees are provided with detailed reports, by the Senior 
Leadership Team, on all aspects of their school’s operations and outcomes for young people, and these reports 
are carefully considered   
 
The Trustees are given overview reports about each school and detailed reports about the MAT as a whole. 
 
The Finance and Staffing Committee is a sub-committee of the main Board of Trustees. Its purpose is to: 
 
● undertake the initial review and authorisation of the annual budgets prior to final approval by the Board of 

Trustees; 
● regularly monitor actual expenditure and income against budgets;  
● ensure the annual accounts are produced in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 

and the ESFA guidance issued to Academies;  
● review the reports of the Responsible Officers on the effectiveness of the financial procedures and controls;  
● ensure compliance with legislation and guidance for financial and staffing issues throughout the MAT;  
● undertake the responsibilities of the Audit Committee;  
● review expenditure in line with the MAT’s strategic plans;  
● review the effectiveness of staffing structures on the performance and wellbeing of staff and pupils; and  
● evaluate and support recruitment to ensure the necessary expertise is available across the MAT within the 

parameters of the budget.  
 
Attendance at meetings in the year was as follows:  
 

Trustee Meetings attended Out of a possible 

Christopher White – Chair of Trustees 6 6 

Janet Thompson – Accounting Officer and 
Chief Executive Officer 

6 6 

Simon Love 6 6 

Caroline Henton 2 6 

Claire Shardlow – (Resigned December 2019) 0 2 

Anthony Carr – (Appointed January 2020) 4 4 
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REVIEW OF VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the MAT delivers good 
value in the use of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money refers to the 
educational and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received. 
 
The Accounting Officer considers how the MAT’s use of its resources has provided good value for money during 
each academic year, and reports to the Board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, including 
the use of benchmarking data where appropriate. The Accounting Officer for the MAT has delivered improved 
value for money during the year by: 
 
● Reviewing the structure of leadership across the MAT to make this more manageable and to have clearer 

accountability, while maintaining high levels of high-quality teaching for pupils. The leadership team now 
have clear ‘houses’ for which they are responsible, which are based upon Key stages but enable them to 
have an overview of approximately 90 pupils so that pupil progress analysis and annual reviews of EHC 
Plans are better informed. This work was undertaken in light of the changes necessary on the creation of 
the Multi-Academy Trust. 

 
● Undertaking a review of the whole curriculum offer. This review was undertaken by the triad teacher groups 

so that there is better budgeting and sharing of resources leading to an improved curriculum offer at the 
same time as offering strong value for money. 
 

● During the COVID-19 arrangements of National lockdown, staff were organised into a rota of three groups 
to maximise the opportunities on offer to pupils attending and those learning from home. This enabled us 
to maximise contact and ensure wellbeing and welfare needs were met. The senior team wrote individual 
risk assessments for each pupil, to identify where there were risks that the child’s needs and provision as 
outlined in their EHC Plan were likely not to be met due to the lockdown and how to mitigate against this to 
reduce the severity of this risk. 
 

● Continuing to organise the school by Key Stages, with some streaming opportunities which helped to 
maximise the learning opportunities for pupils and to provide a focused ‘stage of learning’ appropriate, as 
well as age appropriate, curriculum. 
 

● Facilitating an in-school referral system, which enables staff to access our intervention team who provide 
additional expertise to support individuals or small groups with health, RSE and PSHE as well as pastoral 
and communication needs. In addition to our in-house team we commission regular input from an 
Educational Psychologist, Art therapist, Occupational therapist, Music therapist and also Reflexology at 
Cleveland House. Ready for 2020 we have identified the need for commissioning our own speech and 
language therapist to work with classes weekly. This was an area we had been considering but was 
highlighted specifically when NHS services were removed by Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) from 
working within school during the COVID-19 arrangements.  We have found that by commissioning these 
services directly we ensure greater impact across the school and therefore positively influence the 
outcomes of all our children and young people. Positive impact from this varied input is evident from 
significant improvements in positive behaviour and engagement with learning from pupils in receipt of 
additional support and improvements in access to assisted communication has helped pupils improve their 
communication skills. The impact of the health team has been positive in ensuring pupils, where required, 
have good access to regular health and physio support, helping to keep pupils more ambulant and agile. 
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● Public health and Leicestershire Partnership Trust still do not provide any school nursing to our school and 
so we have continued to jointly commission school nursing with other special schools in Leicestershire. We 
have committed a budget to funding a clinically trained school nurse to oversee the provision of our health 
team. The contract was a shared contract across five area special schools. This year the evaluation has 
shown that the main impact has been on the speed and efficiency of having our own staff trained to meet 
the medical needs of pupils attending the school. There is limited impact on the wellbeing of our wider group 
of children and young people. The contract is once again being reviewed with all parties. 

 
● The Senior Leadership Team and Trustees have prioritised ensuring roles and accountability structures are 

in place for the future of working within a Multi-Academy Trust. 
 

● The schools work closely with other schools within the Hinckley and Bosworth area and the other special 
schools within Leicestershire. This enables the provision of services (for example professional development 
opportunities) at a lower rate than if the schools worked alone. Membership of the Forest Way Teaching 
School Alliance enables value for money to be compared and challenged with other organisations. The 
Chief Operating Officer has established contracts with local suppliers of services so that the school receives 
the best value and has reviewed all contracts in light of the procurement guidance from the Department for 
Education to ensure best value is sustained. 

 
● In order to improve the value for money of our professional development we have split our needs as a MAT 

into three groups - Functional training, Induction and Professional Developmental training. Functional 
training needs to happen on a regular basis, often annually and sometimes biannually. This includes 
essential and compulsory training for all staff and some medical, health and safety training which is for staff 
working with specific pupils in order for them to access school. Induction all staff starting at the school 
undertake initial induction days and then a rolling programme of induction sessions during their first six 
months at the school according to their role. Professional Developmental training is identified from the 
strategic priorities and self-evaluation of the school. This year it included: coaching, relationships and sex 
education, teaching mathematics using the White Rose mathematics scheme and a focus on promoting 
wellbeing through play and communication. 

 
● We have continued the rolling programme of environmental measures to ensure direct efficiency savings 

and value for money with utilities, alongside reducing the MAT’s carbon footprint. 
 
● We have a 5 year budget plan in place which identifies all known income and expenditure for this and future 

financial years. The budget plan includes known income and ensures that inflationary increases in costs 
have been accounted for. There is a planned approach to financial forecasting with regular reviews, 
adjusting areas of income and expenditure that require reductions or increases for future years. 

 
THE PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can, therefore, only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of MAT’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in the MAT for the year 1 September 2019 
to 31 August 2020 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. 
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CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK 
 
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the MAT is exposed together with the operating, 
financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board of Trustees is 
of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the MAT’s significant 
risks that has been in place for the period 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020 and up to the date of approval 
of the Annual Report and financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the Board of Trustees. 
 
THE RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK 
 
The MAT’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information and 
administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability.  In 
particular it includes: 
 
● comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports 

which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees; 
● regular reviews by the Finance and Staffing Committee of reports which indicate financial performance 

against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes; 
● setting targets to measure financial and other performance; 
● clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines; 
● delegation of authority and segregation of duties; and 
● identification and management of risks. 
 
The Board of Trustees has considered the need for a specific internal audit function and has decided to appoint 
Leicestershire County Council as internal auditor. 
 
The internal auditor’s role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the 
MAT’s financial systems. In particular the checks carried out in the current period included: 
 
● testing of payroll systems; 
● testing of purchase systems; and 
● testing of control account/ bank reconciliations. 
 
On an annual basis, the auditor reports to the Board of Trustees, through the Finance & Staffing Committee on 
the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees’ financial responsibilities 
 
REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 
 
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control. During the year in question the review has been informed by: 
 
● the work of the internal auditor; 
● the work of the external auditor; 
● the work of the executive managers within the MAT who have responsibility for the development and 

maintenance of the internal control framework; and 
● the report of the school resource manager advisor. 
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The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal 
control by the Finance and Staffing Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.  
 
Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………… ……………………………………… 
Christopher White Janet Thompson 
Chair of Trustees Accounting Officer 
 
Date: 14 December 2020        Date: 8 December 2020
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As Accounting Officer of Open Thinking Partnership I have considered my responsibility to notify the Board of 
Trustees and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and non-
compliance with terms and conditions of funding received by the Multi-Academy Trust, under the funding 
agreements in place between Open Thinking Partnership and the Secretary of State for Education.  As part of 
my consideration I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook 2019. 
 
I confirm that I and the Board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of all funds 
by the Multi-Academy Trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under Open 
Thinking Partnership’s funding agreements and the Academies Financial Handbook 2019. 
 
I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been discovered 
to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the Board of 
Trustees and ESFA. 
 

 

 

……………………………………………….. 

Janet Thompson 

Accounting Officer 

 
 

 
 Date:  8 December 2020



OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES' RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

The Trustees (who are also Governors of Open Thinking Partnership and are also the Directors of the
charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing the Trustees' Report and
the financial statements in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction published by the Education and
Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law,
the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources,
including its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are
required to:

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

 observe the methods and principles of the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction

2019 to 2020;

 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

 state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

charitable company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies
financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial
management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from DfE/ESFA have been applied for the
purposes intended.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees and signed on its behalf by:

................................................
Christopher White
Chair of Trustees
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO THE MEMBERS OF  OPEN
THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Open Thinking Partnership (Formerly Dorothy Goodman School)
(the 'Academy Trust') for the year ended 31 August 2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities
incorporating Income and Expenditure, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in their preparation is applicable law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland', the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction
2019 to 2020 issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency.

In our opinion the financial statements:

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy Trust's affairs as at 31 August 2020 and of its

incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure for the year then

ended;

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting

Practice; and

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities

SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by the Education and Skills

Funding Agency.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Academy Trust in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom,
including the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:

 the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements

is not appropriate; or

 the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may

cast significant doubt about the Academy Trust's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of

accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are

authorised for issue.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO THE MEMBERS OF  OPEN
THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL) (CONTINUED)

Other information

The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Trustees' Report, other than the financial statements and our Auditors' Report thereon. Other
information includes the Reference and Administrative Details, the Trustees' Report including the Strategic
Report and the Directors' Report, the Governance Statement, the Statement on Regularity, Propriety and
Compliance, and the Trustees' Responsibilities Statement. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 the information given in the Trustees' Report (incorporating the Strategic Report, and the Directors'

Report) for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the

financial statements; and

 the Strategic Report and the Director's Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal

requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the Academy Trust and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees' Report and the Directors'
Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been

received from branches not visited by us; or

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO THE MEMBERS OF  OPEN
THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL) (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities of Trustees

As explained more fully in the Trustees' Responsibilities Statement, the Trustees (who are also the Directors of
the Academy Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy Trust's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Academy Trust or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditors' Report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
Auditors' Report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Academy Trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Academy Trust's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditors' Report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Academy
Trust and its members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Helen Blundell LLB FCA FCIE DChA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of 

MHA MacIntyre Hudson 

Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditors
11 Merus Court
Meridian Business Park
Leicester
LE19 1RJ
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANT'S ASSURANCE REPORT ON REGULARITY TO OPEN
THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL) AND THE EDUCATION AND

SKILLS FUNDING AGENCY

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 24 September 2020 and further to the
requirements of the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts
Direction 2019 to 2020, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the
expenditure disbursed and income received by Open Thinking Partnership (Formerly Dorothy Goodman School)
during the year 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020 have been applied to the purposes identified by
Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

This report is made solely to Open Thinking Partnership (Formerly Dorothy Goodman School) and ESFA in
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to
Open Thinking Partnership (Formerly Dorothy Goodman School) and ESFA those matters we are required to
state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than Open Thinking Partnership (Formerly Dorothy Goodman School) and ESFA,
for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Open Thinking Partnership's Accounting Officer and the Reporting
Accountant

The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirements of Open Thinking Partnership (Formerly Dorothy
Goodman School)'s funding agreement with the Secretary of State for Education dated 30 May 2012 and the
Academies Financial Handbook, extant from 1 September 2019, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and
income received is applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to
the authorities which govern them.

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical
guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the
requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020. We report to you whether anything has come
to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and
income received during the year 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020 have not been applied to purposes
intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by
ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter.

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on
regularity.

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that
might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of
the Academy Trust's income and expenditure.
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(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANT'S ASSURANCE REPORT ON REGULARITY TO OPEN
THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL) AND THE EDUCATION &

SKILLS FUNDING AGENCY (CONTINUED)

The work undertaken to draw our conclusions includes:

• a review of the objectives and activities of the Academy Trust, with reference to the income streams and 
other information available to us as auditors of the Academy Trust;

• testing of a sample of grants received and other income streams;
• testing of a sample of payments to suppliers and other third parties;
• testing of a sample of payroll payments to staff;
• evaluating the internal control procedures and reporting lines, and testing as appropriate;
• reviewing the Minutes of the meetings of the Board of Trustees and other evidence made available to us,

relevant to our consideration of regularity; and
• consideration of governance issues.

Conclusion

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggest in all material respects the
expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020 has not been
applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities
which govern them.

Reporting Accountant 

MHA MacIntyre Hudson 

Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditors
11 Merus Court
Meridian Business Park
Leicester
LE19 1RJ
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCORPORATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

Unrestricted
funds
2020

Restricted
funds
2020

Restricted
fixed asset

funds
2020

Total
funds
2020

Total
funds
2019

Note         £000         £000         £000         £000         £000

Income from:

Donations and capital grants 3 4 117 37 158 409

Funding for Academy Trust's
educational operations 4 - 6,460 14 6,474 5,520

Other trading activities 5 23 - - 23 27

Investments 6 - - - - 1

Total income 27 6,577 51 6,655 5,957

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 7 24 - - 24 25

Academy Trust educational
operations 8 - 6,809 369 7,178 6,086

Total expenditure 9 24 6,809 369 7,202 6,111

Net income/(expenditure) 3 (232) (318) (547) (154)

Transfers between funds 20 (36) (178) 214 - -

Other recognised losses:

Actuarial losses on defined
benefit pension schemes 27 - (86) - (86) (1,582)

Net movement in funds
(33) (496) (104) (633) (1,736)

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 383 (4,411) 15,165 11,137 12,873

Net movement in funds (33) (496) (104) (633) (1,736)

Total funds carried forward
350 (4,907) 15,061 10,504 11,137

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.

The notes on pages 35 to 68 form part of these financial statements.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)
REGISTERED NUMBER: 08071851

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020

2020 2019
Note £000 £000

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 16 15,079 15,192

15,079 15,192

Current assets

Debtors 17 205 203

Cash at bank and in hand 25 1,285 652

1,490 855

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year 18 (774) (422)

Net current assets 716 433

Total assets less current liabilities 15,795 15,625

Creditors: amounts falling due after more
than one year 19 (18) (22)

Net assets excluding pension liability 15,777 15,603

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 27 (5,273) (4,466)

Total net assets 10,504 11,137

Funds of the Academy

Restricted funds:

Restricted fixed asset funds 20 15,061 15,165

Restricted income funds 20 366 55

Restricted funds excluding pension asset 20 15,427 15,220

Pension reserve 20 (5,273) (4,466)

Total restricted funds 20 10,154 10,754

Unrestricted income funds 20 350 383

Total funds 10,504 11,137
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)
REGISTERED NUMBER: 08071851

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020

The financial statements on pages 31 to 68 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Trustees
and are signed on their behalf, by:

................................................
Christopher White
Chair of Trustees

................................................
Janet Thompson
Accounting Officer

The notes on pages 35 to 68 form part of these financial statements.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

2020 2019
Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 22 842 (51)

Cash flows from investing activities 24 (205) (984)

Cash flows from financing activities 23 (4) -

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year 633 (1,035)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 652 1,687

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 25 1,285 652

The notes on pages 35 to 68 form part of these financial statements.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

1. Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently,
except where noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

  

1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of the Academy Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have
been prepared under the historic cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by
Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS
102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by ESFA,
the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006.

Open Thinking Partnership (Formerly Dorothy Goodman School) constitutes a public benefit entity
as defined by FRS 102.

Open Thinking Partnership is a company limited by guarantee incorporated in England and Wales.
The address of the registered office, principal place of operations and registered number are
detailed on page 2. The nature of the Academy Trust's operations and principal activity are detailed
in the Trustees' Report.

The Financial Statements are prepared in British Pound Sterling (£), the functional and
presentational currency is rounded to the nearest £1,000.

  

1.2 Going concern

The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of
the Academy Trust to continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect
of a period of at least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements
and have concluded that the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy
Trust's ability to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the financial statements.

This consideration has taken into account the expected impact of COVID-19 on the Academy Trust,
as far as it can be determined, and the Trustees remain satisfied that the going concern principle
remains appropriate.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

1. Accounting policies (continued)

  

1.3 Income

All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the
receipt is probable and the amount can be measured reliably.

 Grants

Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of
income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant
funds on the Balance Sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-
related conditions there is not unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred
and included in creditors as deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met.
Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued.

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for
which it is receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and
recognised as a liability.

Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent
amounts of capital grants are reflected in the Balance Sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund.
Capital grants are recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the
asset on which they are expended.

 Sponsorship income

Sponsorship income provided to the Academy Trust which amounts to a donation is recognised in
the Statement of Financial Activities in the period in which it is receivable (where there are no
performance-related conditions) where receipt is probable and it can be measured reliably.

 Donations

Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions)
where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.

 Other income

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the
extent the Academy Trust has provided the goods or services.

  

1.4 Expenditure

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic
benefit to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in
settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by
activity. The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs,
including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single
activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity
and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those
activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the
basis of time spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s use.

 Expenditure on raising funds

This includes all expenditure incurred by the Academy Trust to raise funds for its charitable
purposes and includes costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Expenditure (continued)

 Charitable activities

These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust's educational operations, including support costs
and costs relating to the governance of the Academy Trust apportioned to charitable activities.

All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

1.5 Tangible fixed assets

Assets costing £500 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of
depreciation and any provision for impairment.

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the
government or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and
depreciated over their expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached
to the funding requiring the continued use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted
fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet.
Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the
Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with unrestricted
funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land and assets under
construction, at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its
expected useful life, as follows:

Long leasehold land - 0.8% straight-line per annum
Long leasehold buildings - 2% straight-line per annum
Long leasehold property
improvements

- 2% straight-line per annum

Furniture and equipment - 10% straight-line per annum
Plant and machinery - 15% straight-line per annum
Computer equipment - 20% straight-line per annum
Motor vehicles - 20% straight-line per annum
Assets in the course of
construction

- not depreciated until brought into use

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying
value of fixed assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment
losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities.

  

1.6 Operating leases

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a
straight line basis over the lease term.
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OPEN THINKING PARTNERSHIP (FORMERLY DOROTHY GOODMAN SCHOOL)

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

1. Accounting policies (continued)

  

1.7 Taxation

The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance
Act 2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax
purposes.

Accordingly, the Academy Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital
gains received within categories covered by Part 11, chapter 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or
Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains
are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.

1.8 Liabilities

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past
event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the
amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the
Academy Trust anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced
payments for the goods or services it must provide.

1.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Academy Trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a
result of a past event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where
the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those
amounts, discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognised within interest payable and similar charges.

  

1.10 Pensions

Retirement benefits to employees of the Academy Trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension
Scheme ("TPS") and the Local Government Pension Scheme ("LGPS"). These are defined benefit
schemes.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of
pensions over employees’ working lives with the Academy Trust in such a way that the pension cost
is a substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are
determined by the Government Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective
unit credit method. As stated in note 27, TPS is an unfunded multi-employer scheme with no
underlying assets to assign between employers. Consequently, the TPS is treated as a defined
contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which
they relate.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.10 Pensions (continued)

The LGPS is a funded multi-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the
Academy Trust in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair
value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and
discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of
equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least
triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts charged to net
income/(expenditure) are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit
changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net
interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial
Activities and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on
the scheme assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of
the period by the rate used to discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest
income on the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other
recognised gains and losses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.

  

1.11 Financial instruments

The Academy Trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial
assets and financial liabilities of the Academy Trust and their measurement bases are as follows:

Financial assets - trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments
measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 17. Prepayments are not financial instruments. 

Cash at bank - is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value.

Financial liabilities - trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are
measured at amortised cost as detailed in notes 18 and 19. Taxation and social security are not
included in the financial instruments disclosure definition. Deferred income is not deemed to be a
financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and there is an obligation to deliver
services rather than cash or another financial instrument.

  

1.12 Fund accounting

Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of
the charitable objects of the Academy Trust at the discretion of the Trustees.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes
imposed by the funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.

Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the
funder/donor and include grants from the Department for Education Group.

Investment income, gains and losses are allocated to the appropriate fund.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

  

1.13 Agency arrangements

The Academy Trust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 Bursary Funds from the ESFA. Payments
received from the ESFA and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from the
Statement of Financial Activities as the Academy Trust does not have control over the charitable
application of the funds. The Academy Trust can use up to 5% of the allocation towards its own
administration costs and this is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where funds
have not been fully applied in the accounting period then an amount will be included as amounts due
to the ESFA.

2. Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions:

The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

The annual depreciation charge for tangible fixed assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful
economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are
reassessed annually. See note 16 for the carrying amount of the tangible fixed assets, and note 1.5 for
the useful economic lives for each class of assets

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The
assumptions used in determining the net cost or income for pensions include the discount rate. Any
changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 27, will impact the carrying amount of the
pension liability. Furthermore a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial
valuation performed at 31 March 2016 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31
August 2020. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full
actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.

Critical areas of judgement:

The judgements that have had a significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements are
those covering the choice of depreciation policies and asset lives.
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3. Donations and capital grants

Unrestricted
funds
2020

Restricted
funds
2020

Restricted
fixed asset

funds
2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000         £000         £000

Donations 4 117 - 121

Capital grants - - 37 37

Total 2020 4 117 37 158

Unrestricted
funds
2019

Restricted
fixed asset

funds
2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000         £000

Donations 30 - 30

Capital grants - 379 379

Total 2019 30 379 409
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4. Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations

Restricted
funds
2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000
DfE/ESFA grants

General Annual Grant (GAG) 3,055 3,055

Pupil Premium 112 112

Capital grants 14 14

Start up grants 25 25

Other DfE/ESFA grants 241 241

3,447 3,447
Other Government grants

Local Authority grants 2,775 2,775

Start up grants 162 162

Other grants 21 21

2,958 2,958
Other funding

Parental contributions 27 27

Other recharges 36 36

Other income 6 6

69 69

Total 2020 6,474 6,474
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4. Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations (continued)

DfE/ESFA grants

General Annual Grant (GAG) 2,835 2,835

Pupil Premium 109 109

Capital grants 41 41

Other DfE/ESFA grants 77 77

3,062 3,062
Other Government grants

Local Authority grants 2,388 2,388

Other grants 2 2

2,390 2,390
Other funding

Parental contributions 39 39

Other recharges 23 23

Other income 6 6

68 68

Total 2019 5,520 5,520

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to the Government grants above.

5. Other trading activities

Unrestricted
funds
2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000

Hire of facilities 2 2

Catering income 20 20

Other income 1 1

Total 2020 23 23
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5. Other trading activities (continued)

Unrestricted
funds
2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000

Hire of facilities 4 4

Catering income 22 22

Other income 1 1

Total 2019 27 27

6. Investment income

Unrestricted
funds
2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000

Investment income 1 1

7. Expenditure on raising funds

Unrestricted
funds
2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000

Catering costs 19 19

Other expenditure 5 5

Total 2020 24 24
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7. Expenditure on raising funds (continued)

Unrestricted
funds
2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000

Catering costs 22 22

Other expenditure 3 3

Total 2019 25 25

8. Analysis of expenditure by activities

Direct
costs
2020

Support
costs
2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000         £000

Educational Operations 5,673 1,505 7,178

Direct
costs
2019

Support
costs
2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000         £000

Educational Operations 4,627 1,459 6,086
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8. Analysis of expenditure by activities (continued)

Analysis of direct costs

Educational
Operations

2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000

Educational supplies 15 15

Examination fees 5 5

Staff development 34 34

Other direct costs 34 34

Depreciation 369 369

Staff costs 5,216 5,216

Total 2020 5,673 5,673

Educational
Operations

2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000

Educational supplies 14 14

Examination fees 7 7

Staff development 37 37

Other direct costs 74 74

Depreciation 330 330

Staff costs 4,165 4,165

Total 2019 4,627 4,627
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8. Analysis of expenditure by activities (continued)

Analysis of support costs

Educational
Operations

2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000

Pension finance cost (note 15) 90 90

Technology costs 33 33

Travel and subsistence 32 32

Recruitment and support 10 10

Maintenance of premises and equipment 208 208

Cleaning 33 33

Rates and water 20 20

Energy costs 55 55

Insurance 46 46

Catering 56 56

Legal and professional 51 51

Other support costs 266 266

Governance costs 24 24

Staff costs 581 581

Total 2020 1,505 1,505
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8. Analysis of expenditure by activities (continued)

Analysis of support costs (continued)

Educational
Operations

2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000

Pension finance costs (note 15) 72 72

Technology costs 14 14

Travel and subsistence 47 47

Recruitment and support 6 6

Maintenance of premises and equipment 106 106

Cleaning 28 28

Rates and water 15 15

Energy costs 54 54

Insurance 39 39

Catering 73 73

Legal and professional 31 31

Other support costs 249 249

Governance costs 12 12

Staff costs 713 713

Total 2019 1,459 1,459

9. Expenditure

Staff Costs
2020

Premises
2020

Other
2020

Total
2020

        £000         £000         £000         £000

Expenditure on raising funds:

Direct costs - - 24 24

Academy Trust's educational operations:

Direct costs 5,216 316 141 5,673

Support costs 671 316 518 1,505

Total 2020 5,887 632 683 7,202
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9. Expenditure (continued)

Staff Costs
2019

Premises
2019

Other
2019

Total
2019

        £000         £000         £000         £000

Expenditure on raising funds:

Direct costs - - 25 25

Academy Trust's educational operations:

Direct costs 4,165 294 168 4,627

Support costs 785 203 471 1,459

Total 2019 4,950 497 664 6,111

10. Net income/(expenditure)

This is stated after charging:

2020 2019
£000 £000

Operating lease rentals 18 19

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 369 330

Fees paid to auditors for:

- audit services 19 11

- other services 5 1
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11. Staff costs

a. Staff costs

Staff costs during the year were as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000

Wages and salaries 3,985 3,557

Social security costs 277 247

Pension costs 1,494 1,054

5,756 4,858

Agency staff costs 41 20

Pension finance cost (note 15) 90 72

5,887 4,950

b. Staff numbers

The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the year was as follows:

2020 2019
No. No.

Teaching 32 29

Administration and support 189 171

Management 7 5

228 205

c. Higher paid staff

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded
£60,000 was:

2020 2019
No. No.

In the band £60,001 - £70,000 - 2

In the band £70,001 - £80,000 1 -

In the band £100,001 - £110,000 - 1

In the band £110,001 - £120,000 1 -
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11. Staff costs (continued)

c. Higher paid staff (continued)

The above employees (2019: 2 employees) contributed to the Teacher Pension Scheme. During the year
ended 31 August 2020, pension contributions for these member of staff amounted to £43,737 (2019:
£28,902).

One of the above employees in 2019 contributed to the Local Government Pension Scheme. During the
year ended 31 August 2019, pension contributions for this member of staff amounted to £14,277.

d. Key management personnel

The Key Management Personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the Staff Trustees and the Senior
Leadership Team as listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer
pension contributions and employer national insurance contributions) received by Key Management
Personnel for their services to the Academy Trust was £651,084 (2019: £476,341).

12. Central services

No central services were provided by the Academy Trust to its Academies during the year and no central
charges arose.

13. Trustees' remuneration and expenses

One or more Trustees has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment
with the Academy Trust. The Headteacher and other staff Trustees only receive remuneration in respect
of services they provide undertaking the roles of principal and staff members under their contracts of
employment. 

The value of Trustees' remuneration and other benefits, for the period employees were Staff Trustees,
was as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000

Janet Thompson, Headteacher and
Accounting Officer

Remuneration 110 - 115 100 - 105

Pension contributions paid 25 - 30 15 - 20
Ian Coe, Staff Trustee (Resigned 7 October
2019)

Remuneration 0 - 5 15 - 20

Pension contributions paid 0 - 5 0 - 5
Danielle Holder, Staff Trustee (Resigned from
MAT board 1 August 2020)

Remuneration 35 - 40 35 - 40

Pension contributions paid 5 - 10 5 - 10
Melissa Beacall, Staff Trustee, (Appointed 1
June 2020, Resigned from MAT board 1
August 2020)

Remuneration 0 - 5 -

Pension contributions paid 0 - 5 -
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13. Trustees' remuneration and expenses (continued)

During the year ended 31 August 2020, expenses totalling £12 for travel and subsistence were
reimbursed or paid directly to 1 Trustee (2019: No expenses were reimbursed or paid directly to
Trustees).

Other related party transactions involving the Trustees are set out in note 29.

14. Trustees' and Officers' insurance

In accordance with normal commercial practice, the Academy Trust has purchased insurance to protect
Trustees and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on
Academy Trust business. The insurance provides cover up to £3,000,000 on any one claim and the cost
for the year ended 31 August 2020 was £272 (2019: £238). The cost of this insurance is included in the
total insurance cost.

15. Pension finance cost

2020 2019
£000 £000

Interest income on pension scheme assets 98 119

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (188) (191)

(90) (72)
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16. Tangible fixed assets

Long
leasehold
land and

buildings

Furniture
and

equipment
Plant and

machinery
Computer

equipment
Motor

vehicles Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation

At 1 September 2019 16,409 145 23 219 45 16,841

Additions 194 26 - 36 - 256

At 31 August 2020 16,603 171 23 255 45 17,097

Depreciation

At 1 September 2019 1,399 56 20 129 45 1,649

Charge for the year 316 15 2 36 - 369

At 31 August 2020 1,715 71 22 165 45 2,018

Net book value

At 31 August 2020 14,888 100 1 90 - 15,079

At 31 August 2019 15,010 89 3 90 - 15,192

Included in the cost of long leasehold property is long leasehold land valued at £1,261,900 (2019:
£1,261,900) on conversion in 2013 by Andrea Hopkins MRICS, using the depreciated replacement cost
method. The Trustees consider that the valuation remains appropriate for the purposes of these financial
statements. 

The freehold of the land and buildings is owned by Leicestershire County Council. The Academy Trust
holds a 125 year leasehold over the land and buildings
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17. Debtors

2020 2019
£000 £000

Trade debtors - 1

VAT recoverable 37 16

Prepayments and accrued income 168 186

205 203

18. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2020 2019
£000 £000

Other loans 5 5

Other taxation and social security 74 69

Other creditors 238 221

Accruals and deferred income 457 127

774 422

2020 2019
£000 £000

Deferred income at 1 September 2019 9 2

Resources deferred during the year 319 9

Amounts released from previous periods (9) (2)

Deferred income at 31 August 2020 319 9

At the balance sheet date the Academy Trust was holding funds received in advance for Universal Infant
Free School Meals and trips, a balance of overfunding on pupil numbers and SEN COVID-19 top-up
funding for 2020/21 academic year.

Included within other loans is one loan totalling £4,673 (2019: £4,673) for Salix Finance. The loans are
interest free and repayable at an amount of £4,673 annually. The loan will be fully repaid by September
2024. The loan was pre-approved by the Secretary of State, and provided by The Education and Skills
Funding Agency through the Conditional Improvement Fund for the build of the new school site.
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19. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2020 2019
£000 £000

Other loans 18 22

The aggregate amount of liabilities payable or repayable wholly or in part more than five years after the
reporting date is:

2020 2019
£000 £000

Repayable by instalments - 3

- 3

Included within other loans is one loan totalling £17,654 (2019: £22,327) for Salix Finance. The loan is
interest free and repayable at an amount of £4,673 annually. The loan will be fully repaid by September
2024. The loan was pre-approved by the Secretary of State, and provided by The Education and Skills
Funding Agency through the Conditional Improvement Fund for the build of the new school site.
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20. Statement of funds

Balance at
1

September
2019
£000

Income
£000

Expenditure
£000

Transfers
in/(out)

£000

Gains/
(Losses)

£000

Balance at
31 August

2020
£000

Unrestricted funds

General funds 383 27 (24) (36) - 350

Restricted general funds

General Annual Grant (GAG) 7 3,055 (2,724) (70) - 268

Pupil Premium - 112 (112) - - -

Capital grants (DFC) 37 - (18) (19) - -

Capital grants (CIF) 11 - (8) (3) - -

Start up grants - 25 (12) (13) - -

Other DfE/ESFA grants - 241 (241) - - -

Other Local Authority grants - 2,796 (2,796) - - -

Local Authority start up
grants - 162 (74) - - 88

Capital grants (LCC) - - (34) 34 - -

Other income - 186 (69) (107) - 10

Pension reserve (4,466) - (721) - (86) (5,273)

(4,411) 6,577 (6,809) (178) (86) (4,907)

Restricted fixed asset
funds

Net book value of fixed
assets 15,192 - (369) 256 - 15,079

Capital grants (DFC) - 14 - (9) - 5

Capital grants (LCC) - 37 - (37) - -

Salix loan (27) - - 4 - (23)

15,165 51 (369) 214 - 15,061

Total Restricted funds 10,754 6,628 (7,178) 36 (86) 10,154

Total funds 11,137 6,655 (7,202) - (86) 10,504
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20. Statement of funds (continued)

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows:

Unrestricted funds
Unrestricted funds are to be used towards meeting any of the charitable objectives of the Academy Trust
at the discretion of the Trustees. Transfers of £36,000 from unrestricted funds to the restricted fixed
asset fund represents the purchase of fixed assets by the Academy Trust.

General Annual Grant (GAG)
Funds from the ESFA for the provision of education, in line with the funding agreement. 

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy Trust was not subject to a limit on
the amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2020.

Transfers of £234,000 from restricted funds to the restricted fixed asset fund represents the purchase of
fixed assets from various sources of restricted funding.

Pupil Premium
Additional funds from the Education and Skills Funding Agency to support their disadvantaged pupils and
close the attainment gap between them and their peers. This is allocated for every pupil who receives
free school meals.

Capital grants
This consists of Devolved Formula Capital (DFC) and Condition Improvement Fund (CIF) from the ESFA,
and capital grants from the LCC. The DFC is to be used for ICT items, improvements to buildings and
other facilities or capital repairs and refurbishments and minor works. Other capital grants are to be used
as per the individual terms of the agreement and for the specific capital projects as applied for.

Other DfE/ESFA grants
Other funds provided by the DfE/ESFA for particular purposes within the Academy Trust’s educational
operations.

Other Local Authority grants
These are funds and grants received from the Local Authority and other institutions for use on specific
educational projects.

Other income
These consist of income from all other sources to be used primarily for the Academy Trust’s educational
operations.

Pension reserve
Being the fund in relation to the defined benefit pension scheme liability included in the Balance Sheet.
The fund is in deficit given the nature of the liability, however, this is not payable immediately. Plans are in
place to address the deficit.

Restricted fixed asset fund
The restricted fixed asset fund was funded predominately by the funds inherited on conversion to an
Academy Trust from Local Authority following the transfer of assets. It includes further amounts invested
in long leasehold land and buildings, furniture and equipment, plant and machinery, computer equipment
and motor vehicles. Also included in the funds is depreciation charged on fixed assets held.

Transfers of £60,000 from restricted fixed asset funds to restricted funds represents capital grants used
for revenue expenditure.
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20. Statement of funds (continued)

Salix loans
This fund includes a loan from the ESFA which were taken out to fund a new building. The fund is in
deficit and the balance is being paid off through the GAG over the terms of the loans. Transfers of £4,000
to restricted funds from restricted fixed asset funds represents allocations of GAG towards the repayment
of the loan.
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20. Statement of funds (continued)

Total funds analysis by Academy Trust

Fund balances at 31 August 2020 were allocated as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000

Dorothy Goodman School 628 438

Fusion Academy 88 -

Total before fixed asset funds and pension reserve 716 438

Restricted fixed asset fund 15,061 15,165

Pension reserve (5,273) (4,466)

Total 10,504 11,137

Total cost analysis by Academy Trust

Expenditure incurred by each Academy Trust during the year was as follows:

Teaching
and

educational
support

staff costs

Other
support

staff costs
Educational

supplies

Other costs
excluding

depreciation
Total
2020

        £000         £000         £000         £000         £000

Dorothy Goodman School 4,534 576 85 831 6,026

Fusion Academy 51 5 2 28 86

Academy 4,585 581 87 859 6,112

Comparative information in respect of the preceding year is as follows:

Teaching
and

educational
support staff

costs

Other
support staff

costs
Educational

supplies

Other costs
excluding

depreciation
Total
2019

        £000         £000         £000         £000         £000

Dorothy Goodman School 3,803 713 132 699 5,347
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20. Statement of funds (continued)

Comparative information in respect of the preceding year is as follows:

Balance at
1

September
2018
£000

Income
£000

Expenditure
£000

Transfers
in/(out)

£000

Gains/
(Losses)

£000

Balance
at
31

August
2019
£000

Unrestricted funds

General funds 350 58 (25) - - 383

Restricted general funds

General Annual Grant (GAG) 545 2,835 (2,668) (705) - 7

Pupil Premium - 109 (109) - - -

Capital grants (DFC) 12 41 - (16) - 37

Capital grants (CIF) 21 - (10) - - 11

Other DfE/ESFA grants - 77 (77) - - -

Other Local Authority grants - 2,390 (2,390) - - -

Other income - 68 (68) - - -

Other grants 8 - - (8) - -

Pension reserve (2,450) - (434) - (1,582) (4,466)

(1,864) 5,520 (5,756) (729) (1,582) (4,411)

Restricted fixed asset funds

Net book value of fixed assets 14,117 - (330) 1,405 - 15,192

CIF capital grants 297 - - (297) - -

Other capital grants - 379 - (379) - -

Salix loan (27) - - - - (27)

14,387 379 (330) 729 - 15,165

Total Restricted funds 12,523 5,899 (6,086) - (1,582) 10,754

Total funds 12,873 5,957 (6,111) - (1,582) 11,137
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21. Analysis of net assets between funds

Unrestricted
funds
2020

Restricted
funds
2020

Restricted
fixed asset

funds
2020

Total
funds
2020

        £000         £000         £000         £000

Tangible fixed assets - - 15,079 15,079

Current assets 350 1,135 5 1,490

Current liabilities - (769) (5) (774)

Non-current liabilities - - (18) (18)

Pension scheme liability - (5,273) - (5,273)

Total 2020 350 (4,907) 15,061 10,504

Unrestricted
funds
2019

Restricted
funds
2019

Restricted
fixed asset

funds
2019

Total
funds
2019

        £000         £000         £000         £000

Tangible fixed assets - - 15,192 15,192

Current assets 383 472 - 855

Current liabilities - (417) (5) (422)

Non-current liabilities - - (22) (22)

Pension scheme liability - (4,466) - (4,466)

Total 2019
383 (4,411) 15,165 11,137
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22. Reconciliation of net expenditure to net cash flow from operating activities

2020 2019
£000 £000

Net expenditure for the year (as per Statement of Financial Activities) (547) (154)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation (note 16) 369 330

Capital grants from DfE and other capital income (note 3 and 4) (51) (420)

Interest receivable (note 6) - (1)

Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions payable (note 27) 631 362

Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost (note 15) 90 72

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (note 17) (2) 383

Increase/(decrease) in creditors (note 18) 352 (623)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 842 (51)

23. Cash flows from financing activities

2020 2019
£000 £000

Repayments of borrowing (note 19) (4) -

Net cash used in financing activities (4) -

24. Cash flows from investing activities

2020 2019
£000 £000

Interest received (note 6) - 1

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (note 16) (256) (1,405)

Capital grants from DfE Group (note 3 and 4) 51 420

Net cash used in investing activities (205) (984)
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25. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019
£000 £000

Cash in hand 1,285 652

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,285 652

26. Analysis of changes in net debt

At 1
September

2019 Cash flows
At 31

August 2020
£000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 652 633 1,285

Debt due within 1 year (5) - (5)

Debt due after 1 year (22) 4 (18)

625 637 1,262

27. Pension commitments

The Academy Trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension
Scheme England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension
Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by Leicestershire County Council. Both are
multi-employer defined benefit schemes.

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS 31
March 2016.

Contributions amounting to £96,145 were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2020 (2019: £79,271)
and are included within creditors.

Teachers' Pension Scheme

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by
the Teachers' Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in Academies.
All teachers have the option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a
percentage of salary - these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension
benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament.
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27. Pension commitments (continued)

Valuation of the Teachers' Pension Scheme

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the
TPS in accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions
2014 published by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future
contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs,
design of benefits and many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at
31 March 2016. The valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2019.
The key elements of the valuation and subsequent consultation are:

 employer contribution rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration

levy);

 total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for

service to the effective date of £218,100 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions

together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196,100 million, giving a

notional past service deficit of £22,000 million; and

 the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The current

SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of CPI, assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of prices

and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.2%. The

assumed nominal rate of return including earnings growth is 4.45%.

The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2023.

The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to £303,000 (2019: £200,000).

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers' Pensions website
(https://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/news/employers/2019/04/teachers-pensions-valuation-report.aspx).

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The
Academy Trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution
scheme. The Academy Trust has set out above the information available on the scheme.

Local Government Pension Scheme

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-
administered funds. The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2020 was £696,000 (2019:
£603,000), of which employer's contributions totalled £561,000 (2019: £487,000) and employees'
contributions totalled £135,000 (2019: £116,000). The agreed contribution rates for future years are
23.1% for employers and 5.5% - 12.5% for employees. 

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the
event of Academy Trust closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met
by the Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013.
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27. Pension commitments (continued)

Principal actuarial assumptions

2020 2019
% %

Rate of increase in salaries 2.70 3.30

Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation 2.20 2.30

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 1.70 1.90

Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.20 2.30

Commutation of pensions to lump sums 50.00 50.00

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:

2020 2019
Years Years

Retiring today

Males 21.5 22.1

Females 23.8 23.4

Retiring in 20 years

Males 22.2 22.2

Females 25.2 24.7

Sensitivity analysis

2020 2019
£000 £000

Discount rate +0.1% (332) (296)

Discount rate -0.1% 332 296

Mortality assumption - 1 year increase 424 371

Mortality assumption - 1 year decrease (424) (371)

CPI rate +0.1% 300 247

CPI rate -0.1% (300) (247)
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27. Pension commitments (continued)

The Academy Trust's share of the assets in the scheme was:

2020 2019
£000 £000

Equities 3,140 2,789

Bonds 1,543 1,490

Property 426 385

Cash 213 144

Total market value of assets 5,322 4,808

The actual return on scheme assets was £98,000 (2019: £156,000). 

The Academy Trust expects to contribute £548,000 to its defined benefit pension scheme in 2021.

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities are as follows:

2020
Restated

2019
£000 £000

Current service cost (1,154) (734)

Past service cost (38) (115)

Interest income 98 119

Interest cost (188) (191)

Total amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities (1,282) (921)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2020
Restated

2019
£000 £000

At 1 September 9,274 6,411

Current service cost 1,154 734

Interest cost 188 191

Employee contributions 135 116

Actuarial (gains)/losses (138) 1,738

Benefits paid (56) (31)

Past service cost 38 115

At 31 August 10,595 9,274
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27. Pension commitments (continued)

Changes in the fair value of the Academy Trust's share of scheme assets were as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000

At 1 September 4,808 3,961

Interest income 98 119

Actuarial (losses)/gains (224) 156

Employer contributions 561 487

Employee contributions 135 116

Benefits paid (56) (31)

At 31 August 5,322 4,808

28. Operating lease commitments

At 31 August 2020 the Academy Trust had commitments to make future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000

Within 1 year 12 17

Between 1 and 5 years - 12

12 29

29. Related party transactions

Owing to the nature of the Academy Trust and the composition of the Board of Trustees being drawn
from local public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in
which the Trustees have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in
accordance with the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook, including notifying the ESFA of
all transactions made on or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining their approval where required, and with the
Academy Trust's financial regulations and normal procurement procedures relating to connected and
related party transactions. The following related party transaction took place in the financial year.

During the year the Academy Trust made purchases from Burbage Hire Centre Limited, a company in
which C Lakin, Finance Manager, has an interest, amounting to £987 (2019: £Nil). In entering into the
transaction the Trust has complied with the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook 2019.

No other related party transactions took place in the period of account other than certain Trustees
remuneration and expenses as disclosed in note 13.
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30. Agency arrangements

The Academy Trust distributes 16-19 bursary funds to students as an agent for ESFA. In the accounting
period ending 31 August 2020 the Academy Trust received £4,935 and disbursed £4,935 from the fund.
An amount of £nil is in included in other creditors relating to undistributed funds that is repayable to
ESFA. Comparatives for the accounting period ending 31 August 2019 are £4,613 received, £4,613
disbursed and £nil included in other creditors.

31. Controlling party

The Academy Trust is ultimately controlled by the Board of Trustees, which includes the Headteacher.

32. Company Limited by Guarantee

The Academy Trust is a company limited by guarantee and does not have share capital. 

33. Members' liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the
event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a
member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted
before he/she ceases to be a member.

34. Post balance sheet events

The Local Authority, Leicestershire County Council, built a property and transferred it on a 125 year lease
to Open Thinking Partnership to be used by The Fusion Academy. The property was transferred on 11
September 2020. The valuation of this property is yet to be confirmed.
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